THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002487

RECEIVED
MAR 27 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Cassandra M. Myers and Bartholomew Myers in their capacity as Co-Personal
Representatives of the Estate of Evan Morris Myers, Appellants,

v.

The Consolidated Employee Recreation Clubs, a non-profit organization a/k/a
Pine Island Club at Lake Murray; South Carolina Electric and Gas Holding
Company, Inc.; SCANA, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Collins & Lacy, P.C.

Christian Stegmaier, Esquire
PO Box 12487
Columbia, SC 29211
Attorney for Respondents

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN IT HELD AS A MATTER OF LAW THERE WAS NOT A SCINTILLA OF EVIDENCE THAT ANY OF DEFENDANTS’ NEGLIGENT ACTS WERE A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF EVAN MYERS’S DROWNING?**

- II. GIVEN THAT THE TRIAL COURT ELECTED TO CONSIDER RESPONDENTS’ CAUSATION ARGUMENT, DESPITE THE FACT IT WAS NOT RAISED UNTIL HOURS BEFORE THE HEARING, DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER AFFIDAVITS SUPPORTING CAUSATION SUBMITTED WITH THE MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND?**

- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN IT HELD RESPONDENTS OWED NO COLORABLE DUTY OF CARE TO THE DECEDENT?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a wrongful death case involving the drowning death of Evan Myers at the Pine Island Club at Lake Murray, which occurred in the evening of June 15, 2011. On June 13, 2014, Cassandra M. Myers and Bartholomew Myers in their capacity as Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of Evan M. Myers filed this lawsuit against The Consolidated Employee Recreation Clubs a/k/a Pine Island Club at Lake Murray, South Carolina Electric and Gas Holding Company, Inc., SCANA, multiple Lexington County entities, and two individual defendants, designated as Civil Action Number 2014-CP-32-02210 (Compl.). Subsequent stipulations dismissed the Lexington County entities and the individual defendants from the lawsuit. A consent Order signed by the judge and parties was filed on October 26, 2015, granting Plaintiffs’ motion to Amend the Complaint, (consent Order), making Plaintiffs’ “Second Amended Complaint” the most recent

Complaint filed in this lawsuit. (R. p. 35-46). Defendants filed their answer to Plaintiffs' "Second Amended Complaint" on October 21, 2015. (R. p. 47-61).

Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment on November 3, 2014. The motion set forth as the basis for summary judgment the following: (1) statute of limitations, lack of duty and breach of duty, (2) judgment as a matter of law via South Carolina's Recreational Use Statute, (3) failure to prosecute, (4) failure to demonstrate "outrageousness" as purportedly required to support a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress, and (5) failure to state a claim against Matthew Bellamy. (R. p. 87-94). On December 8, 2015, Plaintiffs filed a Memorandum of Law in Response to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 174-213). As Matthew Bellamy was dismissed as a Defendant and the claim for intentional infliction of emotion distress was dropped from the Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs addressed each of the remaining three grounds for summary judgment set forth in the Motion for Summary Judgment. On December 8, 2015, Plaintiffs filed two expert witness affidavits in response to Defendants' contention that there was no breach of any owed duty to the Decedent. (R. pp. 184-213). The hearing was not scheduled until December 11, 2015. Therefore, Plaintiffs complied with the rules requiring any opposing affidavits be served not later than two days before the hearing. Plaintiffs' experts addressed only the contentions actually raised by Defendants. Because Defendants did not raise proximate cause, Plaintiffs' experts did offer opinion on causation.

Late afternoon on December 10, 2015, the day before the hearing, Defendants emailed Plaintiffs' counsel a "courtesy copy" of a memorandum in Support of the Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 244-245). For the first time, defense counsel argued proximate cause had not been established. (R. p. 95-173). The hearing occurred the following morning, on December 11, 2015. At the hearing, Plaintiffs' counsel requested the court consider only the arguments identified

in Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 450, lines 5-24). Even if it had been possible to obtain an opposing affidavit hours before the scheduled hearing, Rule 56(c), SCRCPP, would have excluded it. Defendants' memo in support of its motion for summary judgment was filed December 14, 2015.

An Order granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was filed on August 8, 2016. (R. p. 1-16). Summary judgment was granted on the basis of failure to establish proximate causation as a matter of law and no duty owed to decedent. The Form 4 accompanying the signed order indicates the judgment was entered on August 24, 2016. A copy of the signed Order was received on August 30, 2016. On September 6, 2016, Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP and expert affidavits addressing the late causation argument. (R. p. 214-261). Defendants filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter or Amend on September 27, 2016. (R. p. 262-419). Plaintiffs filed a Reply to Defendants' Response on October 10, 2016. (R. p. 420-431). The trial court entered an Order denying Plaintiffs' motion to alter or amend dated November 4, 2016 and clocked as filed on November 9, 2016. The Form 4 indicated the judgment was entered on November 15, 2016. (R. pp. 17-20).

Appellants served a notice of appeal upon Defendants on December 12, 2016, and the notice was filed on the same date. An amended Notice of Appeal was served on December 27, 2016 and received December 28, 2016. The amount involved on appeal is indeterminable at this time, but would include all damages associated with the wrongful death of a twenty-one-year-old.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 15, 2011, Evan Myers and Mandy Bellamy arrived at the Pine Island Club on Lake Murray. Mandy Bellamy was a member of the Pine Island Club and Evan accompanied Mandy as her guest. The Pine Island Club is owned and operated by Consolidated Employee Recreation

Clubs. Pine Island Club is a membership-only recreational facility available solely to employees of Defendant SCANA. (Def. Ans. To Interrog. ¶¶ 1-3). To be a member of the Pine Island Club and have access to the facilities, including the swimming beaches, a person must be: (1) an employee of SCANA, (2) have applied for and been accepted for membership, (3) have paid an initiation fee, and (4) pay monthly membership fees.

Pine Island Club is analogous to a private country club. Guards at the entrance prevent entry of non-members onto the island. Members are checked upon entrance. Members are permitted to bring guests onto the island. However, if a non-member accesses the Pine Island Club without a member, that person is a trespasser and subject to prosecution. (Defs. Ans. to Interrog. ¶ 3, Defs. Ans. to 2d Set of Interrog, ¶¶ 2, 27, 29, R. p 139-173).

Facilities like the Pine Island Club that hold themselves out as providing swimming areas and lifeguards to club members have certain duties and obligations to those who lawfully use its facilities. National water safety organizations put out industry safety and standards and practices including those set forth by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, the National Lightning Safety Institute, the National Weather Service, the American Red Cross, the National Water Safety Congress, and the YMCA to name a few. (R. pp. 184-213). The duties owed by a landowner like Pine Island Club to its members include duties to have: (1) weather monitoring equipment, (2) a severe weather safety plan, (3) an Operations Policies and Procedures Manual for life guards, (4) to clear the beach and pool in anticipation of an incoming storm, (5) to warn all swimmers of potentially unsafe water conditions, (6) to have safety posts near the swimming waters that included throwing components, (7) to have water rescue devices on and around the boating dock, and (8) to have a life guard on duty at the swimming pool and beach. (R. pp. 184-213).

Evan was the invited guest of Mandy Bellamy, a member of Pine Island Club, when he was granted access to the island club on June 15, 2011. Evan had attended the club previously as an invited guest of Ms. Bellamy as well. (R. p. 327, lines 9-16). On the previous occasion, Evan, Mandy, and Mandy's boyfriend went swimming at the swimming beach. (R. p. 331, lines 17-19). During the previous swim, Evan never appeared to have any problems swimming. (R. p. 336, lines 10-15). The date of Evan's drowning, Mandy's boyfriend had planned to go with Mandy and Evan, but he had work that evening. (Bellamy Depo. 56:11 to 57:8).

Evan and Mandy placed their towels and bags on the beach and then entered the water at the swimming beach. (R. p. 115, lines 7-10). While Evan and Mandy were swimming at the swimming beach, Respondents received notice that a storm was approaching the island. Respondents had no severe weather safety plan in place as required by industry standards. Respondents had no operations policies and procedures or manual in place for its life guards instructing the lifeguards on what to do when a storm approached. When the storm approached, the lifeguards simply went off duty. Before going off duty, the lifeguards did not even attempt clear the beach area. Before leaving their posts, the lifeguards provided no warnings to swimmers near the beach that the lifeguards were going off duty, or even that a storm was fast approaching. There should have been a severe weather safety plan in place that would have provided instruction on how to handle this situation. There was none. There should have been a policy and procedure instructing the lifeguards on how to appropriately respond to an impending storm. There was none. There should have been policies and procedures instructing the lifeguards to warn swimmers that the lifeguards were going off duty and that a storm was approaching. There were none. There should have been a life guard manual instructing the life guards to clear the beach before they went

off duty, but there was none. Accordingly, the lifeguards did not clear the beach or provide warning of the approaching storm to Evan or Mandy before they left their posts and went off duty.

Evan and Mandy continued to swim, wholly unaware that the nearby lifeguards had gone off duty because there was a storm approaching. Evan and Mandy swam to the buoy line and sat on the buoy line for a period of time. (Bellamy Depo 69:24-25, 71:22 to 72:2). They then swam back to shore and walked by the shelters and to the dock. (Bellamy Depo 81:1-9). John W. Seay, the caretaker for Pine Island, admitted that he watched both Evan and Mandy walk by the shelters toward the dock. (R. p. 487). The Pine Island caretaker never warned Evan and Mandy that there was a storm approaching, that the lifeguards had gone off duty, or that swimming areas had been closed. They walked onto the dock, Evan jumped into the water, and then Mandy jumped into the water. (R. p. 121, lines 7-13).

While making their way to the buoy, Evan became distressed in the water and began having difficulty swimming. (R. p. 122, line 25-p. 123, line 24). Mandy tried to help, but in panic, Evan grasped at Mandy and caused her to go under water. Mandy swam to safety and called for help. Because the lifeguards had gone off duty, there was no lifeguard nearby to hear her cries for help. Because the lifeguards had gone off duty, there was no lifeguard nearby who could have assisted. The caretaker and a couple whom the caretaker was talking with heard Mandy's cries. Evan McPherson tried to swim out to help. However, by the time he got to the rope he was too tired to attempt to rescue Evan Myers. (R. pp. 485-486). Evan McPherson spoke with Mandy and asked her to swim back to shore.

The only way for Evan McPherson or any other bystander to help was to swim into the water. This is because, in contravention to industry practices and standards, Pine Island failed to have required water rescue devices near the boating dock. In contravention to industry practices

and standards, Pine Island failed to have required safety posts near the swimming beach with throwing components. Because Pine Island failed to have required safety posts near the swimming beach with throwing components and because Pine Island failed to have required water rescue devices near the boating dock, all Evan McPherson could do to help was to swim out into the water. However, by the time he reached the distressed swimmer, he himself was fatigued and could not assist. Had there been life saving devices on the shore or at the dock, Evan McPherson could have helped Mandy and Evan from outside the water. Had a lifeguard been on duty, a lifeguard would have heard Mandy's cries and been able to assist either by using the life saving devices on the shore or on the dock, if Pine Island had followed industry regulations and standards and had such life saving devices available. Even Mandy stated that if there had been a flotation or water rescue device nearby to use to save Evan, that she would have done so. (Bellamy Depo 149:15-150:1). In contravention of industry practices and standards, there were none, and Evan drowned. Evan was twenty-one at the time and was preparing to join the police academy.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is appropriate only if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. Rule 56(c), SCRPC. "To determine whether any triable issues of fact exist, the reviewing court must consider the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." *McLaughlin v. Williams*, 379 S.C. 451, 455-56, 665 S.E.2d 667, 670 (Ct. App. 2008). Where the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof applies, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence to overcome summary judgment. *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). Summary judgment is not appropriate where "further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law." *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 378, 537 S.E.2d 688, 692

(2000). “Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.” *Murphy v. Tyndall*, 384 S.C. 50, 54, 681 S.E.2d 28, 30 (Ct. App. 2009).

“The question of proximate cause is ordinarily a question of fact for determination by the jury.” *Ballou v. Sigma Nu General Fraternity*, 291 S.C. 140, 147, 352 S.E.2d 488, 493 (Ct. App. 1986). “Only in rare or exceptional cases may the question of proximate cause be decided as a matter of law.” *Id.* An appellate court “applies the same standard used by the [circuit] court” when reviewing a summary judgment order. *Epstein v. Coastal Timber Co.*, 393 S.C. 276, 281, 711 S.E.2d 912, 915 (2011).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD AS A MATTER OF LAW THERE WAS NOT A SCINTILLA OF EVIDENCE THAT ANY OF DEFENDANTS’ NEGLIGENT ACTS WERE A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF EVAN MYERS’S DROWNING.

The trial court’s order sets forth two grounds for granting summary judgment, the first of which is “no evidence of proximate cause.” (R. p. 6). Factually, this is incorrect. While the evidence of record might be contested, there is certainly *some* evidence to support proximate causation. Instead of reviewing all the causally significant breaches in Respondents’ duties that Appellants set forth, the trial court focused solely on questions regarding if the weather conditions were the direct cause of the decedent’s drowning. The trial court’s narrowed focus on if “weather conditions caused the decedent to drown” misapprehended the causal significance of *approaching* bad weather and ignored the breaches Appellants did set forth.

a. Alleged breaches in the standard of care a reasonable jury could have found were a proximate cause of decedents drowning.

“To show the defendant was the proximate cause of the injury, the plaintiff must establish the defendant was both the cause-in-fact and the legal cause of the injury.” *Cody P. v. Bank of Am.*,

N.A., 395 S.C. 611, 620, 720 S.E.2d 473, 478 (Ct. App. 2011) citing *Mellen v. Lane*, 377 S.C. 261, 278, 659 S.E.2d 236, 245 (Ct. App. 2008). “The cause-in-fact requirement is proved by showing the injury would not have occurred but for the defendant's negligence.” *Id.* “The legal cause requirement is proved by establishing the plaintiff's injury was foreseeable. *Id.* “An injury is foreseeable if it is the natural and probable consequence of the defendant's conduct in light of the attendant circumstances.” *Id.* “Although foreseeability of some injury from an act or omission is a prerequisite to establishing proximate cause, the plaintiff need not prove that the actor should have contemplated the particular event which occurred.” *Sims v. Hall*, 357 S.C. 288, 298, 592 S.E.2d 315, 320 (Ct. App. 2003) “It is axiomatic in this State that issues of negligence and proximate cause may be resolved by direct or circumstantial evidence.” *Mahaffey v. Ahl*, 264 S.C. 241, 247, 214 S.E.2d 119, 122 (1975). “Only in rare or exceptional cases may the question of proximate cause be decided as a matter of law.” *Ballou v. Sigma Nu General Fraternity*, 291 S.C. 140, 147, 352 S.E.2d 488, 493 (Ct. App. 1986).

Affidavits of Drs. Francesco Pia and Ralph Johnson noted that Respondents had certain duties and obligations arising as landowner of a private club like Pine Island that provided swimming areas to persons with lawful access to their premises. These included duties to have: (1) weather monitoring equipment, (2) a severe weather safety plan, (3) an Operations Policies and Procedures Manual for life guards, (4) to clear the beach and pool in anticipation of an incoming storm, (5) to warn all swimmers of potentially unsafe water conditions, (6) to have safety posts near the swimming waters that included throwing components, (7) to have water rescue devices on and around the boating dock, and (8) to have a life guard on duty at the swimming pool and beach. (R. pp. 184-213). There is no evidence that Defendants: (1) had weather monitoring equipment, (2) had a severe weather safety plan, (3), had an Operations Policies and Procedures

Manual for lifeguards, (4), cleared the beach and pool when the storm approached, (5) warned all swimmers of potentially unsafe water conditions, (6) had safety posts near the swimming waters that included throwing components, (7) kept any water rescue devices near the boating dock, or (8) had a lifeguard on duty at the beach time decedent drowned. The absence or failure of any of the above presents a scintilla of evidence that Respondents breached their duties in the above-mentioned ways.

The causal significance of any of these breaches is a question for the jury. This is not the rare or exceptional case where proximate cause may be decided by the judge as a matter of law. *Ballou v. Sigma Nu General Fraternity*, 291 S.C. at 147, 352 S.E.2d at 493. It would be entirely reasonable for a jury to infer any of the aforementioned breaches in Respondents' duties were a proximate cause of decedent's drowning. Specifically, a reasonable jury could easily conclude that Respondents' conduct was both a "but-for" cause of the decedent's drowning and that that it was foreseeable to Respondents that if they breached the standards in the manner alleged, a person might drown. Accordingly, Appellants submitted ample evidence to satisfy the scintilla of evidence standard required to survive a motion for summary judgment.

b. Legal Causation.

"The touchstone of proximate cause in South Carolina is foreseeability." *Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr., Inc.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994). A jury could reasonably determine it is foreseeable that if Respondents failed to follow industry guidelines and regulations for water safety, failed to monitor, failed to keep lifeguards on duty, failed to clear the beach when the lifeguards went off duty, and failed to have required life saving devices near the beach and near the dock, then someone might drown. Said differently, it is well within a reasonable jury's province to determine it was foreseeable to Respondents that someone might drown if they failed to follow industry standards and guidelines in the manner set forth by Appellants' experts.

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