THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED  
MAY 29 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-002487

Cassandra M. Myers and Bartholomew Myers  
in their capacity as Co-Personal Representatives  
of the Estate of Evan Morris Myers, ..... Appellants,

v.

The Consolidated Employee Recreation Clubs, a  
non-profit organization a/k/a Pine Island Club  
at Lake Murray, South Carolina Electric and Gas  
Holding Company, Inc.; SCANA ..... Respondents.

**RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF**

MEGHAN H. HALL  
mhall@collinsandlacy.com

CHRISTIAN STEGMAIER

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

Furthermore, by virtue of the fact that Decedent had left the premises of the Pine Island Club, Decedent was neither an invitee nor a licensee of the

club at the time of this incident. The RUS is clear in its language that Respondents owed no duty of care to Decedent to keep the premises safe, and need not have given any warnings of a dangerous condition, use, structure or activity on the property. See S.C. Code Ann. § 27-3-30 (1991).

In Cole v. S.C. Elec. & Gas, Inc., 362 S.C. 445, 608 S.E.2d 859 (2005), our Supreme Court analyzed the RUS and found, even where the landowner charged a fee for parking, the landowner was still afforded the protections of the statute and affirmed summary judgment to the defendant on this issue. In Cole, the Decedent and several friends were swimming within a recreational area at Lake Murray when the decedent drowned while swimming. The recreational site at issue in Cole was fenced-in and patrolled by a security guard. There were no lifeguards on duty at the lakefront, nor was there any safety equipment present at the site. The swimming area was roped off with buoy lines; however, in Cole, the decedent drowned within the swimming beach.

The Court held that the purpose of the statute was to encourage landowners to make their property available for public use and recreational purposes and in accordance with that purpose, the statute shielded landowners from liability for negligence.

Here, twenty-one year old Decedent was not in the confines of Respondents' recreational area at the time of his death. Any inquiry into Appellants' Decedent's entrance to the Pine Island Club is moot because Decedent left the Pine Island Club premises at the time of his death, and was in the open and public waters of Lake Murray.

Likewise, Appellants' expert opinions regarding duty are irrelevant. These expert affidavits opine to the "obligations of a landowner, such as [Respondents] in this case, **to a person lawfully using this swimming beach** during an incoming storm...." (R. pp. 184-92). Again, Decedent was not using the swimming beach at the time of his death.

Moreover, Decedent had a right to enter the open waters of Lake Murray without permission. Lake Murray, which covers approximately 78 square miles of land and which is owned by SCE&G, is open to the public free of charge. Here, Pine Island Club owed no duty of care to Decedent to keep the open freshwaters of Lake Murray safe, and did not have to give any warnings as to a dangerous condition, use, structure, or activity regarding the open waters of Lake Murray. However, the Pine Island Club did provide such warnings, notifying swimmers that they were to swim at their own risk, that no lifeguards were on duty, and specifically prohibiting swimming off the

subject dock near which Decedent drowned. (R. pp. 119-20, 135).

The RUS provides that Respondents cannot be held liable as a matter of law because they owed the Appellants' Decedent no legal duty of care.

**B. No Duty to Warn of Perils of Obvious Natural Conditions**

Even if Appellants' Decedent were an invitee, to which the highest duty of care would be owed (and which Respondents deny), our courts have consistently held that a landowner has no duty to warn of the perils of obvious natural conditions of which an invitee is reasonably unaware. Meadows v. Heritage Village Church and Missionary Fellowship, Inc., 305 S.C. 375, 378, 409 S.E.2d 349 (1991) (holding wet grass an open and obvious natural condition).

There is no recognized duty in South Carolina, which would require the Pine Island Club to warn or notify decedent, an adult of twenty one years of age, of open and obvious weather conditions. The approaching rain clouds and overcast sky are nothing but an open and obvious condition of which decedent was reasonably aware. See generally Hancock v. Mid-South Mngt. Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (finding no general duty to warn of open and obvious conditions); West v City of St. Paul, 936 P. 136, 139 (Alaska 1997) ("Because most weather conditions are open and obvious, and

can be discovered with reasonable diligence, a wharfinger does not have a duty to warn of such dangers.”).

For these reasons, Respondents owed no duty to Appellants’ Decedent to warn of the incoming weather. Without such a duty, Appellants’ claims fail as a matter of law.

### **C. Appellants’ Decedent Assumed the Risk**

A court may declare that the plaintiff assumed the risk as a matter of law when it clearly appears that the plaintiff freely and voluntarily exposed himself to a known danger and understood and appreciated the danger. Humphrey v. Day & Zimmerman Intern., Inc., 997 F. Supp. 2d 388 (D.S.C. 2014). The only competent evidence in the record indicates Appellants’ Decedent assumed the risk. Accordingly, no duty was owed to Decedent.

#### **1. Appellants’ Decedent’s Primary Implied Assumption of Risk Bars Appellants’ Claim for Recovery**

Appellants aver the Circuit Court inappropriately determined—as a matter of law—that Decedent assumed the risk of swimming in the subject waters. Appellants further contend the Circuit Court misapprehended the law of assumption of risk, asserting that the Court evaluated assumption of risk as a question of whether Respondents owed Appellants a duty. Rather,

Appellants contend, the assumption of risk is secondary implied assumption of risk in which Decedent's assumption of risk must be compared to Respondents' negligence.

“Primary implied assumption of risk arises when the plaintiff impliedly assumes those risks that are inherent in a particular activity.” Davenport v. Cotton Hope Plantation Horizontal Prop. Regime, 333 S.C. 71, 81, 508 S.E.2d 565, 570 (1998). Importantly, our Supreme Court has clearly held that, “[p]rimary implied assumption of risk is not a true affirmative defense, but instead goes to the initial determination of whether the defendant’s legal duty encompasses the risk encountered by the plaintiff.” Id.

Appellants’ Decedent assumed the risks inherent in swimming in an open body of water. It was Decedent’s own decision and suggestion that he and Ms. Bellamy leave the Pine Island Club swimming beach and jump from the nearby dock into the open freshwaters of Lake Murray. (R. p. 117). Decedent ignored clear warnings posted at the subject dock which prohibited him from swimming in the area around the dock in which he subsequently drowned. (R. p. 120). Decedent knew of the dangers inherent in swimming, both knew and appreciated he was swimming in the open water of Lake Murray where no lifeguard would be present, ignored clearly posted signage

which prohibited him from swimming from the subject dock, and by ignoring such warnings voluntarily exposed himself to the dangers of swimming in the open waters of Lake Murray.

The only competent evidence in the record, and the only reasonable inferences therefrom, show that Decedent knew about the realities forming a dangerous condition (if any), including that he was going into a large lake, without lifeguards or safety equipment. Any argument that the subject existing warning signs were of insufficient size, location, or content are not supported by any credible evidence in the record whatsoever.<sup>2</sup> Indeed, the only evidence in the record supports the existence of warning signs to “swim at your own risk” and “no lifeguard on duty.” Moreover, the aforementioned signage specifically prohibits persons from swimming off the subject dock from which Decedent entered the open waters of Lake Murray. See Cantrell v. Plex Indoor Sports, LLC, No. 2015-UP-274, 2015 WL 3536560, at \*1 (S.C. Ct. App. June 3, 2015) (citing Cole v. Boy Scouts of Am., 397 S.C. 247, 251, 725 S.E.2d 476, 478 (2011) (“Primary implied assumption of risk

---

<sup>2</sup> To the extent Appellants’ rely on the supplemental affidavits of their experts to support their contention that a breach of the duties articulated in the original affidavits proximately caused Decedent’s death, the supplemental affidavits are improper for the Court’s consideration. See, Argument II.A, *infra*.

arises when the plaintiff impliedly assumes those risks that are inherent in a particular activity.” (internal quotation marks omitted)); id. (“The doctrine of primary implied assumption of risk goes to the initial determination of whether the defendant's legal duty encompasses the risk encountered by the plaintiff.” (internal quotation marks omitted)); id. at 253, 725 S.E.2d at 479 (“Where a person chooses to participate in a contact sport, whatever the level of play, he assumes the risks inherent in that sport.”); Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc., 371 S.C. 123, 136, 638 S.E.2d 650, 656 (2006) (“Under South Carolina common law, there is no general duty to control the conduct of another or to warn a third person or potential victim of danger.”); Hurst v. E. Coast Hockey League, Inc., 371 S.C. 33, 37, 637 S.E.2d 560, 562 (2006) (“If there is no duty, then the defendant in a negligence action is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.”).

Respondents maintain that it is intellectually dishonest to suggest that Decedent did not adequately understand the risks inherent in swimming in the fresh waters of Lake Murray. Because Appellants’ decedent assumed the risks inherent in the activity he was engaged in at the time of his death, Respondents owed no duty to Decedent. Accordingly, Appellants’ claims are barred as a matter of law.

## 2. Appellants' Reliance on Cole is Misguided

Appellants attempt to analogize Cole v. S.C. Elec. & Gas, Inc., 362 S.C. 445, 608 S.E.2d 859 (2005), to the procedural posture and facts presented in the case *sub judice*. Specifically, Appellants aver that Cole requires a finding that Respondents owed Decedent a duty. However, Appellants' reliance on Cole for the reasons articulated in their brief is misplaced.

In Cole, a fourteen-year-old boy drowned in the open waters of Lake Murray. The Decedent's parents brought a wrongful death action against South Carolina Electric & Gas ("SCEG"), alleging SCEG was negligent and grossly negligent for failing to provide lifeguards, life-saving equipment, and the proper warnings at the site. Summary judgment was granted in favor of SCEG on the ground that SCEG was entitled to immunity from liability for simple negligence under the Recreational Use Statute. A trial proceeded only on the issue of SCEG's gross negligence.

At trial, plaintiff's expert provided testimony that the "no lifeguard on duty" signs were inadequate in his opinion to warn of the dangers inherent in swimming in a lake.

A jury charge was given as to the decedent's assumption of the risk. The jury charge failed to instruct that SCEG had the burden of proving its affirmative defense of assumption of the risk.

The Supreme Court ultimately held that while the trial court properly applied the Recreational Use Statute, the jury charge was inadequate to properly instruct the jury regarding SCEG's burden of proof. While SCEG argued that there was no need to charge assumption of the risk under the doctrine of "primary implied assumption of the risk," the Court ultimately found that whether SCEG met the duty owed to licensees by warning that there was no lifeguard on duty was a question of fact for the jury. Notably, the Court referenced plaintiff's expert's testimony that the warning signs simply stating there was no lifeguard was insufficient notice of the danger involved.

Cole is notably distinguishable from the case at hand based on the procedural posture and issues on appeal. Particularly, the Cole Court found there were questions of fact for the jury based on evidence presented by plaintiffs and plaintiffs' experts. Notably, the decedent in Cole was fourteen years old. Moreover, the Cole Court noted that the decedent was unaware the

buoy line was over his head. The Court found that a factual issue remained as to the whether a **child** legally assumed the risk of drowning in the lake.

Here, decedent was twenty-one years old. He was a graduate of nearby Irmo High School, was attending college courses, and had ambitions to become a first responder and join the local police department. (R. pp. 113, 114, 129). Further, unlike Cole, there is no allegation that decedent did not know the water was deep. More importantly, decedent previously accessed the waters of the Pine Island Club and previously appreciated the inherent dangers of swimming in the waters of Lake Murray. (R. pp. 148, 327 and 328).

The analysis of Cole is procedural and factually distinguishable from the case *sub judice*. Accordingly, Appellants' reliance on the same for the reasons articulated in their brief is misplaced.

## **II. There is No Evidence that Any Breach Proximately Caused Decedent's Death**

To the extent the Court finds Respondents owed Appellants' Decedent a duty of care, there is no evidence that a breach of any alleged duty owed to Decedent proximately caused decedent's death.

Appellants contend that based on the affidavits of Drs. Francesco Pia and Ralph Johnson, a jury could infer that any number of breaches<sup>3</sup> by the Respondents was the proximate cause of Decedent's drowning. (App. Initial Br. p. 9). Appellants further allege that they are only required to show Respondents' conduct was a cause and not the sole cause of Decedent's death.

**A. The Supplemental Affidavits Are Improper for the Court's Review**

Appellants initially submitted affidavits from Drs. Francesco Pia and Ralph Johnson asserting the duties owned by Respondents Decedent. However, those initial affidavits fall short of concluding that a breach of any one of the duties articulated in the affidavits was the proximate cause of Decedent's drowning. (R. pp. 184-212).

Along with their Rule 59(e), SCRCF motion, Appellants submitted supplemental affidavits of Drs. Pia and Johnson. (R. pp. 246-58). Within the

---

<sup>3</sup> The duties referenced by Appellants, and which Appellants aver were breached, including: (1) weather monitoring equipment, (2) a severe weather safety plan; (3) and Operations Policies and Procedures Manual for lifeguards; (4) to clear the beach and pool in anticipation of an incoming storm; (5) to warn all swimmers of potentially unsafe water conditions; (6) to have safety posts near the swimming waters that include throwing components; (7) to have water rescue devices on and around the boating dock; and (8) to have a life guard on duty at the swimming pool and beach. (Appellants' Initial Br. pp. 13-14).

supplemental affidavits, the experts opined that the breaches previously articulated in the initial affidavits proximately caused Decedent's death. Appellants attempted to argue that this new expert witness testimony compelled the Circuit Court to reverse its prior ruling. (R. pp. 229-31).

However, "[a] party cannot use Rule 59(e) to present to the court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not." Hickman v. Hickman, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990); see also Bogart v. Chapell, 396 F.3d 548, 555 (4th Cir. 2005) (recognizing that one of the limited purposes of Rule 59(e) is "to account for new evidence not available at trial"); Peters v. General Service Bureau, Inc., 277 F.3d 1051, 1057 (8th Cir. 2002) ("Arguments and evidence which could have been presented earlier in the proceedings cannot be presented in a Rule 59(e) motion."); Nagle Industries, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 175 F.R.D. 251 (E.D. Mich. 1997) (explaining that a Rule 59(e) motion "should not be utilized to submit evidence which could have been previously submitted in the exercise of reasonable diligence."); Natural Resources Defense Council v. U.S. E.P.A., 705 F.Supp. 698, 701 (D.D.C.1989); vacated on other grounds, 707 F.Supp. 3 (D.D.C.1989) ("Rule 59(e) motions are not vehicles for bringing before the court theories or arguments that were not advanced earlier.");

Smith v. Stoner, 594 F.Supp. 1091, 1118 (N.D.Ind.1984) (“Issues which could have been presented to the court for consideration previously, but which were not, are not the proper subject of Rule 59(e) relief; the issues are waived.”); Johnson v. City of Richmond, 102 F.R.D. 623, 623 (E.D.Va.1984) (“I do not conceive of Fed.R.Civ.P. 59(e) as serving the office of providing a disappointed suitor with a post-judgment opportunity to argue that which could have been argued pre-judgment.”).

By the submission of the supplemental affidavits, Appellants attempted to improperly enlarge the record on which the Circuit Court could make its decision. Appellants are attempting to use the same mechanism before this Court.

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